

Registration of a Charge

Company Name: BLUE BELL FOODS LIMITED

Company Number: 07537614



XB946WJF

Received for filing in Electronic Format on the: 27/07/2022

Details of Charge

Date of creation: 21/07/2022

Charge code: 0753 7614 0001

Persons entitled: BANK OF MONTREAL AS SECURITY TRUSTEE

Brief description: NONE.

Contains fixed charge(s).

Contains floating charge(s) (floating charge covers all the property or

undertaking of the company).

Contains negative pledge.

Authentication of Form

This form was authorised by: a person with an interest in the registration of the charge.

Authentication of Instrument

Certification statement: I CERTIFY THAT SAVE FOR MATERIAL REDACTED PURSUANT

TO S.859G OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 THE ELECTRONIC COPY INSTRUMENT DELIVERED AS PART OF THIS APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION IS A CORRECT COPY OF THE ORIGINAL

INSTRUMENT.

Certified by: GOWLING WLG (UK) LLP



CERTIFICATE OF THE REGISTRATION OF A CHARGE

Company number: 7537614

Charge code: 0753 7614 0001

The Registrar of Companies for England and Wales hereby certifies that a charge dated 21st July 2022 and created by BLUE BELL FOODS LIMITED was delivered pursuant to Chapter A1 Part 25 of the Companies Act 2006 on 27th July 2022 .

Given at Companies House, Cardiff on 28th July 2022

The above information was communicated by electronic means and authenticated by the Registrar of Companies under section 1115 of the Companies Act 2006





_		T 7 .
Execu	ifion.	Version

DATED 21 July 2022

(1) THE COMPANIES NAMED IN THIS DEED AS ORIGINAL CHARGORS

- and –

(2) BANK OF MONTREAL as Security Agent

DEBENTURE

CONTENTS

1	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
2	COVENANT TO PAY	7
3	GRANT OF SECURITY	7
4	FIXED SECURITY	8
5	FLOATING CHARGE	11
6	EXCLUSIONS	11
7	CONVERSION OF FLOATING CHARGE	12
8	CONTINUING SECURITY	13
9	LIABILITY OF CHARGORS RELATING TO SECURITY ASSETS	13
10	ACCOUNTS	14
11	REPRESENTATIONS	14
12	UNDERTAKINGS BY THE CHARGORS	15
13	POWER TO REMEDY	21
14	WHEN SECURITY BECOMES ENFORCEABLE	22
15	ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY	22
16	RECEIVER	24
17	POWERS OF RECEIVER	25
18	APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS	27
19	SET-OFF	27
20	DELEGATION	28
21	FURTHER ASSURANCES	28
22	POWER OF ATTORNEY	29
23	CURRENCY CONVERSION	29
24	CHANGES TO THE PARTIES	29
25	MISCELLANEOUS	30
26	NOTICES	31
27	CALCULATIONS AND CERTIFICATES	32
28	PARTIAL INVALIDITY	32
29	REMEDIES AND WAIVERS	32
30	AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS	33
31	COUNTERPARTS	33
32	RELEASE	33
33	GOVERNING LAW	33
34	ENFORCEMENT AND JURISDICTION	33
SCH	EDULE 1: THE ORIGINAL CHARGORS	35

SCHEDULE 2: DETAILS OF SECURITY ASSETS	36
PART 1: REAL PROPERTY	36
PART 2: UNREGISTERED LAND	37
PART 3: CHARGED SECURITIES	37
PART 4: CHARGED ACCOUNTS	38
PART 5: INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	40
PART 6: RELEVANT CONTRACTS	40
PART 7: INSURANCES	40
SCHEDULE 3: FORM OF NOTICE TO AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FROM ACCOUNT BANK	42
PART 1: FORM OF NOTICE OF CHARGE TO ACCOUNT BANK	42
PART 2: FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FROM ACCOUNT BANK	44
SCHEDULE 4: FORM OF NOTICE TO AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY PARTY TO RELEVANT CONTRACT	45
SCHEDULE 5: FORM OF NOTICE TO AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY INSURERS	48
SCHEDULE 6: FORM OF ACCESSION DEED	52

THIS DEBENTURE is made on 21 July

2022

BETWEEN:

- (1) THE COMPANIES LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO THIS DEED (the "Original Chargors"); and
- (2) **BANK OF MONTREAL** as security trustee for itself and for the Secured Parties (in such capacity, the "**Security Agent**").

IT IS AGREED:

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Deed:

- (a) terms defined in, or construed for the purposes of, the Facilities Agreement (as defined below) have the same meanings when used in this Deed (unless the same are otherwise defined in this Deed); and
- (b) at all times the following terms have the following meanings:

"Accession Deed" means an accession deed substantially in the form set out in schedule 6 (Form of Accession Deed);

"Account Bank" means any bank or other financial institution with which any Charged Account is maintained from time to time:

"Act" means the Law of Property Act 1925;

"Affiliate Material Leased Real Property" has the meaning given to such term in the Facilities Agreement;

"Assigned Assets" means the Security Assets expressed to be assigned pursuant to clause 4.2 (Security assignments);

"Charged Accounts" means each:

- (a) Collection Account; and
- (b) other account charged by or pursuant to this Deed;

"Charged Investments" means the Charged Securities and all present and future Related Rights accruing to all or any of the Charged Securities;

"Charged Securities" means:

- (a) the securities specified in part 2 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*); and
- (b) all other stocks, shares, debentures, bonds, warrants, coupons, negotiable instruments, certificates of deposit or other securities or "investments" (as

defined in part II of schedule II to the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 as in force at the date of this Deed) now or in future owned (legally or beneficially) by a Chargor or held by a nominee, trustee, fiduciary or clearance system on its behalf or in which such Chargor has an interest at any time;

"Chargors" means:

- (a) the Original Chargors; and
- (b) any other entity which accedes to this Deed pursuant to an Accession Deed;

"Collection Account" has the meaning given to that term in clause 12.8(a)(iii);

"**Debenture Security**" means the Security created or evidenced by or pursuant to this Deed or any Accession Deed;

"**Default Rate**" means the rate of interest determined in accordance with article 2.07(3) (*Payments under this Agreement*) of the Facilities Agreement or as otherwise agreed between the Borrowers and the Security Agent;

"Delegate" means any delegate, sub-delegate, agent, attorney or co-trustee appointed by the Security Agent or by a Receiver;

"Event of Default" has the meaning given to such term in the Facilities Agreement;

"Excluded Intellectual Property" means any Intellectual Property over which the relevant Chargor is prohibited from granting a mortgage, charge or assignment pursuant to the terms of a Franchise Agreement or a Development Agreement or other document giving rise to that Chargor's right to or interest in the Intellectual Property in question;

"Excluded Leasehold Property" has the meaning given to that term in clause 6.2(a);

"Facilities Agreement" means the senior secured credit agreement dated on or about the date as this Deed and made between: (1) Supernova UK Bidco Limited (as UK Borrower); (2) 2871263 Ontario Inc., Soul Coffee House Canada Inc., and 1317451 B.C. Ltd. (as Canadian Borrowers); (3) Bank of Montreal (as Administrative Agent, Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner); (4) BMO London Branch (as UK Agent); and (5) the financial institutions identified on the signature pages therein (as Lenders);

"Insurances" means all policies of insurance (and all cover notes) which are at any time held by or written in favour of a Chargor or in which a Chargor from time to time has an interest including, without limitation, the policies of insurance (if any) specified in part 7 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*), but excluding such policies of insurance to the extent that they relate to third party liabilities;

"Intellectual Property" means all legal and/or equitable interests (including, without limitation, the benefit of all licences in any part of the world) of each Chargor in, or relating to:

(a) any patents, trade marks, service marks, designs, business names, copyrights, database rights, design rights, domain names, moral rights, inventions, confidential information, know-how and other intellectual property rights and

- interests (which may now or in the future subsist), whether registered or unregistered; and
- (b) the benefit of all applications and rights to use such assets of each Chargor (which may now or in the future subsist),

including, without limitation, the intellectual property rights (if any) specified in part 5 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*);

"Material Owned Real Property" has the meaning given to such term in the Facilities Agreement;

"Omnibus Guarantee" means the omnibus guarantee dated on or about the date of this Deed and made between: (1) the Original Guarantors (as defined therein); and (2) the Security Agent;

"Party" means a party to this Deed;

"Planning Acts" means:

- (a) the Town and Country Planning Act 1990;
- (b) the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990;
- (c) the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990;
- (d) the Planning (Consequential Provisions) Act 1990;
- (e) the Planning and Compensation Act 1991;
- (f) any regulations made pursuant to any of the foregoing; and
- (g) any other legislation of a similar nature;

"Real Property" means all estates and interests in freehold, leasehold and other immovable property (wherever situated) now or in future belonging to any Chargor, or in which any Chargor has an interest at any time (including the registered and unregistered land (if any) in England and Wales specified in part 1 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*)), together with:

- (a) all buildings and fixtures (including trade fixtures) and fixed plant and machinery at any time thereon;
- (b) all easements, rights and agreements in respect thereof; and
- (c) the benefit of all covenants given in respect thereof;

"Receivables" means all present and future book debts and other debts, rentals, royalties, fees, VAT and monetary claims and all other amounts at any time recoverable or receivable by, or due or owing to, any Chargor (whether actual or contingent and whether arising under contract or in any other manner whatsoever) together with:

- (a) the benefit of all rights, guarantees, Security and remedies relating to any of the foregoing (including, without limitation, negotiable instruments, indemnities, reservations of property rights, rights of tracing and unpaid vendor's liens and similar associated rights); and
- (b) all proceeds of any of the foregoing;

"Receiver" means a receiver or receiver and manager or administrative receiver of the whole or any part of the Security Assets appointed by the Security Agent under this Deed:

"Related Rights" means, in relation to any Charged Securities:

- (a) all dividends, distributions and other income paid or payable on the relevant Charged Securities or on any asset referred to in paragraph (b) of this definition; and
- (b) all rights, monies or property accruing or offered at any time in relation to such Charged Securities whether by way of redemption, substitution, exchange, bonus or preference, under option rights or otherwise;

"Relevant Contract" means:

- (a) each agreement (if any) specified in part 6 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*);
- (b) each Eligible Hedging Agreement; and
- (c) each agreement specified in any Accession Deed as a "Relevant Contract",

together with each other agreement supplementing or amending or novating or replacing the same;

"Secured Obligations" means the present and future indebtedness, obligations and other liabilities of the Chargors and/or the Loan Parties and the Limited Recourse Guarantors to the Secured Parties under the Loan Documents;

"Secured Parties" has the meaning given to such term in the Facilities Agreement and includes the Security Agent, any Receiver or Delegate;

"Security" means a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest securing any obligation of any person or any other agreement or arrangement having a similar effect;

"Security Assets" means all property and assets from time to time mortgaged, charged or assigned (or expressed to be mortgaged, charged or assigned) by or pursuant to this Deed:

"**Security Period**" means the period beginning on the date of this Deed and ending on the date on which:

- (a) all the Secured Obligations have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid and discharged in full; and
- (b) no Secured Party has any further commitment, obligation or liability to the Chargors (including to make any finance credit or other accommodation available to the Chargors);

"Short Leasehold Property" means a leasehold property held by a Chargor now or in the future under a lease granted at a rack rate which has an unexpired term of seven years or less at the date of this Deed (or in the case of future acquired leasehold property, at the date of acquisition of such property by the relevant Chargor); and

"Subordination Deed" means the security trust and subordination deed entered into on or about the date of this Deed between, amongst others, (1) Bank of Montreal (as Agent); (2) BMO London Branch (as UK Agent); (3) the financial institutions identified on the signature pages therein (as Lenders); (4) the parties identified in part 3 of schedule 1 therein (as subordinated creditors); (5) Supernova UK Bidco Limited (as the company); (6) the entities identified in parts 4 and 5 of schedule 1 therein (as intragroup lenders and debtors respectively); and (7) Bank of Montreal (as security trustee).

1.2 Interpretation

- (a) Unless a contrary indication appears in this Deed, the provisions of articles 1.02 (*Gender and Number*) to 1.22 (*No Personal Liability*) (inclusive) of the Facilities Agreement apply to this Deed as though they were set out in full in this Deed, except that references to "this Agreement" will be construed as references to this Deed; and
- (b) Unless a contrary indication appears, any reference in this Deed to:
 - (i) a "Chargor", the "Security Agent" or any other "Secured Party" or any other person shall be construed so as to include its successors in title, permitted assigns and permitted transferees and, in the case of the Security Agent, any person for the time being appointed as Security Agent or Security Agents in accordance with the Subordination Deed;
 - (ii) "this Deed", the "Facilities Agreement", and any "Loan Document" or any other agreement or instrument is a reference to this Deed, the Facilities Agreement, or that other agreement or instrument as amended, supplemented, extended, restated, novated and/or replaced in any manner from time to time (however fundamentally and even if any of the same increases the obligations of any member of the Group or provides for further advances);
 - (iii) "Secured Obligations" includes obligations and liabilities which would be treated as such but for the liquidation, administration or dissolution of or similar event affecting any member of the Group; and
 - (iv) "includes" means includes or including without limitation.

- (c) Each undertaking of a Chargor (other than a payment obligation) contained in this Deed:
 - (i) must be complied with at all times during the Security Period; and
 - (ii) is given by such Chargor for the benefit of the Security Agent and each other Secured Party.
- (d) The terms of the other Loan Documents and of any other document under which any of the Secured Obligations arise and of any side letters between any of the parties to them in relation to any Loan Document or any other document under which any of the Secured Obligations arise are incorporated in this Deed to the extent required to ensure that any disposition of the Real Property contained in this Deed is a valid disposition in accordance with section 2(1) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1989.
- (e) If the Security Agent or the Administrative Agent reasonably considers that an amount paid by any member of the Group to a Secured Party in respect of the Secured Obligations is capable of being avoided or otherwise set aside on the liquidation or administration of such member of the Group, then that amount shall not be considered to have been irrevocably paid for the purposes of this Deed.
- (f) The Parties intend that this document shall take effect as a deed notwithstanding the fact that a Party may only execute this document under hand.

1.3 Joint and several

The liabilities and obligations of each Chargor under this Deed are joint and several. Each Chargor agrees to be bound by this Deed notwithstanding that any other Chargor which was intended to sign or be bound by this Deed did not so sign or is not bound by this Deed.

1.4 Trust

All Security and dispositions made or created, and all obligations and undertakings contained, in this Deed to, in favour of or for the benefit of the Security Agent are made, created and entered into in favour of the Security Agent as trustee for the Secured Parties from time to time on the terms of the Subordination Deed.

1.5 Third Party Rights

(a) Unless expressly provided to the contrary in any Loan Document, a person who is not a party has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)

Act 1999 to enforce or enjoy the benefit of any term of this Deed or any other

Loan Document issued or entered into under or in connection with it.

(b) Any Receiver or Delegate may enforce and enjoy the benefit of any clause which expressly confers rights on it, subject to the provisions of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

1.6 Application of Provisions in the Facilities Agreement

Article 2.07(3) (Payments under this Agreement), 13.02 (Taxes), 19.01(1) (Costs and Expenses) and 19.01(2) (Indemnification by the Borrowers) of the Facilities Agreement are deemed to form part of this Deed as if expressly incorporated into it and as if all references in those clauses to:

- (a) the Facilities Agreement (or the "Agreement") were references to this Deed; and
- (b) the Borrowers were references to the Chargors.

1.7 Conflict

In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Deed and the provisions of the Subordination Deed, then the provisions of the Subordination Deed shall prevail.

2 COVENANT TO PAY

2.1 Covenant to pay

- (a) Each Chargor, as principal obligor and not merely as surety, covenants in favour of the Security Agent that it will pay and discharge the Secured Obligations from time to time when they fall due.
- (b) Every payment by a Chargor of a Secured Obligation which is made to or for the benefit of a Secured Party to which that Secured Obligation is due and payable in accordance with the terms of the relevant document under which such sum is payable to that Secured Party, shall operate in satisfaction to the same extent of the covenant contained in clause 2.1(a).

2.2 Default interest

Any amount which is not paid under this Deed when due shall bear interest on a daily basis (both before and after judgment and payable on demand) at the Default Rate from the due date until the date on which such amount is unconditionally and irrevocably paid and discharged in full.

3 GRANT OF SECURITY

3.1 Nature of security

All Security and dispositions created or made by or pursuant to this Deed (including for the avoidance of doubt pursuant to any Accession Deed) are created or made:

- (a) in favour of the Security Agent;
- (b) with full title guarantee in accordance with the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994; and
- (c) as continuing security for payment of the Secured Obligations.

3.2 Qualifying floating charge

Paragraph 14 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986 applies to any floating charge created by or pursuant to this Deed (and each such floating charge is a qualifying floating charge for the purposes of the Insolvency Act 1986).

4 FIXED SECURITY

4.1 Fixed charges

Each Chargor charges and agrees to charge all of its present and future right, title and interest in and to the following assets which are, at any time owned by it or in which it from time to time has an interest:

- (a) by way of first legal mortgage:
 - (i) the Real Property (if any) specified in part 1 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*); and
 - (ii) (subject to clause 6.1) all other Real Property (if any) and all interests in Real Property not charged by clause 4.1(a)(i);
- (b) by way of first fixed charge:
 - (i) (subject to clause 6.1) all other Real Property and all interests in Real Property not charged by clause 4.1(a);
 - (ii) all licences to enter upon or use land and the benefit of all other agreements relating to land; and
 - (iii) the proceeds of sale of all Real Property;
- (c) by way of first fixed charge all plant and machinery (not charged by clause 4.1(a) or 4.1(b)) and the benefit of all contracts, licences and warranties relating to the same;
- (d) by way of first fixed charge:
 - (i) all computers, vehicles, office equipment and other equipment (not charged by clause 4.1(c)); and
 - (ii) the benefit of all contracts, licences and warranties relating to the same;
- (e) by way of first fixed charge:

- (i) the Charged Securities (if any) referred to in part 3 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*); and
- (ii) all other Charged Securities (not charged by clause 4.1(e)(i)),

in each case, together with (A) all Related Rights from time to time accruing to those Charged Securities and (B) all rights which such Chargor may have at any time against any clearance or settlement system or any custodian in respect of any Charged Investments;

- (f) by way of first fixed charge:
 - (i) the Collection Accounts and all monies at any time standing to the credit of the Collection Accounts; and
 - (ii) all other accounts of such Chargor with any bank, financial institution or other person at any time (not charged by clause 4.1(f)(i)) and all monies at any time standing to the credit of such accounts,

in each case, together with all interest from time to time accrued or accruing on such monies, any investment made out of such monies or account and all rights to repayment of any of the foregoing;

- (g) by way of first fixed charge:
 - (i) the Intellectual Property (if any) specified in part 5 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*); and
 - (ii) all other Intellectual Property (if any) (not charged by clause 4.1(g)(i)) but excluding any Excluded Intellectual Property;
- (h) to the extent that any Assigned Asset is not effectively assigned under clause 4.2 (*Security assignments*), by way of first fixed charge such Assigned Asset but excluding any Excluded Intellectual Property;
- (i) by way of first fixed charge (to the extent not otherwise charged or assigned in this Deed):
 - (i) the benefit of all licences, consents, agreements and Authorizations held or used in connection with the business of such Chargor or the use of any of its assets but excluding any Excluded Intellectual Property; and
 - (ii) any letter of credit issued in favour of such Chargor and all bills of exchange and other negotiable instruments held by it; and
- (j) by way of first fixed charge all of the goodwill and uncalled capital of such Chargor,

4.2 Security assignments

- (a) Each Chargor assigns and agrees to assign absolutely (subject to a proviso for reassignment on redemption) all of its present and future right, title and interest in and to:
 - (i) the Relevant Contracts, all rights and remedies in connection with the Relevant Contracts and all proceeds and claims arising from them;
 - (ii) all Insurances and all claims under the Insurances and all proceeds of the Insurances; and
 - (iii) all other Receivables (not assigned under clauses 4.2(a)(i) or 4.2(a)(ii)).
- (b) To the extent that any Assigned Asset described in clause 4.2(a)(ii) is not assignable, the assignment which that clause purports to effect shall operate as an assignment of all present and future rights and claims of such Chargor to any proceeds of such Insurances.

4.3 Notice of assignment and/or charge - immediate notice

Immediately upon execution of this Deed or an Accession Deed (as applicable) (and as soon as reasonably practicable after obtaining any Insurance or the execution of any Relevant Contract or the opening of any Charged Account after the date of this Deed) each Chargor shall:

- (a) in respect of each of its Insurances, deliver a duly completed notice of assignment to the provider of each such Insurance and shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that each such person executes and delivers to the Security Agent an acknowledgement, in each case in the respective forms set out in schedule 5 (Form of notice to and acknowledgement by insurers);
- (b) in respect of each Relevant Contract (to the extent that such Chargor is a party to the relevant document), deliver a duly completed notice of assignment to each other party to that document and use its reasonable endeavours to procure that each such party executes and delivers to the Security Agent an acknowledgement, in each case in the respective forms set out in schedule 4 (Form of notice to and acknowledgement by party to Relevant Contract) or as agreed between the applicable Chargor and the Security Agent; and
- (c) in respect of its Charged Accounts deliver a duly completed notice to the Account Bank and, subject to the terms of the Facilities Agreement, use its reasonable endeavours to procure that the Account Bank executes and delivers to the Security Agent an acknowledgement, in each case in the respective forms set out in schedule 3 (Form of notice to and acknowledgement from Account Bank),

or, in each case, in such other form as the Security Agent shall agree.

4.4 Assigned Assets

The Security Agent is not obliged to take any steps necessary to preserve any Assigned Asset, to enforce any term of a Relevant Contract against any person or to make any enquiries as to the nature or sufficiency of any payment received by it pursuant to this Deed.

5 FLOATING CHARGE

Each Chargor charges and agrees to charge by way of first floating charge all of its present and future:

- (a) assets and undertaking (wherever located) not otherwise effectively charged by way of fixed mortgage or charge or assigned pursuant to clause 4.1 (*Fixed charges*), clause 4.2 (*Security assignments*) or any other provision of this Deed; and
- (b) (whether or not effectively so charged or assigned) heritable property and all other property and assets in Scotland.

6 EXCLUSIONS

6.1 General

There shall be excluded from the charge created by clause 4.1 (*Fixed charges*) and the further assurance provisions set out in clause 21 (*Further assurances*):

- (i) any leasehold property which is not an Affiliate Material Leased Real Property;
- (ii) any owned real property which is not Material Owned Real Property;
- (iii) any Short Leasehold Property.

6.2 Leases restricting charging

- (a) Subject to clause 6.1, there shall be excluded from the charge created by clause 4.1 (*Fixed charges*) and the further assurance provisions set out in clause 21 (*Further assurances*) any leasehold property held by a Chargor under a lease which either precludes absolutely or conditionally (including requiring the consent of any third party) that Chargor from creating any charge over its leasehold interest in that property (each an "**Excluded Leasehold Property**") until the relevant condition or waiver has been satisfied or obtained.
- (b) For each Excluded Leasehold Property which is Affiliate Material Leased Real Property, each relevant Chargor undertakes to apply for the relevant consent or waiver of prohibition or condition within 10 Business Days of the date of this Deed or, as the case may be, the date of the Accession Deed or the date of acquisition of the relevant Affiliate Material Leased Real Property and to use reasonable endeavours for a period of 10 Business Days only to obtain that consent and to notify the Security Agent upon receipt of the relevant consent.

(c) Immediately upon receipt of the relevant waiver or consent, the relevant formerly Excluded Leasehold Property which is Affiliate Material Leased Real Property acquired after the date of this Deed, shall stand charged to the Security Agent under clause 4.1 (*Fixed charges*). If required by the Security Agent (but on no more onerous terms than the terms of this Deed as regards Real Property) at any time following receipt of that waiver or consent, the relevant Chargor shall execute a valid legal mortgage in such form as the Security Agent shall reasonably require within 10 Business Days of a draft of the same being provided to the relevant Chargor following the relevant waiver or consent being granted.

6.3 Exclusions from Security Assets

There shall be excluded from the security created by clause 4.1 (*Fixed charges*) and clause 4.2 (*Security Assignments*), each Franchise Agreement and any document expressly referred to in any Franchise Agreement which at the date entered into prohibits the granting of security and the rights of any Chargor over that agreement.

7 CONVERSION OF FLOATING CHARGE

7.1 Conversion by notice

The Security Agent may, by written notice to a Chargor, convert the floating charge created under this Deed into a fixed charge as regards all or any of the assets of such Chargor specified in the notice if:

- (a) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; or
- (b) the Security Agent considers any Security Assets to be in danger of being seized or sold under any form of distress, attachment, execution or other legal process or to be otherwise in jeopardy.

7.2 Moratorium

The floating charge created under this Deed by any Chargor shall not convert into a fixed charge solely by reason of a moratorium being obtained under Part A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 (or anything done with a view to obtaining such a moratorium) in respect of such Chargor. This clause 7.2 shall not apply to any floating charge referred to in subsection (4) of section A52 of Part A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986.

7.3 Automatic conversion

The floating charge created under this Deed shall (in addition to the circumstances in which the same will occur under general law) automatically convert into a fixed charge:

- (a) in relation to any Security Asset which is subject to a floating charge if:
 - (i) such Chargor creates (or attempts or purports to create) any Security (other than a Permitted Lien) on or over the relevant Security Asset without the prior written consent of the Security Agent; or

- (ii) any third party levies or attempts to levy any distress, execution, attachment or other legal process against any such Security Asset; and
- (b) over all Security Assets of a Chargor which are subject to a floating charge if an administrator is appointed in respect of such Chargor or the Security Agent receives notice of intention to appoint such an administrator (as contemplated by the Insolvency Act 1986).

7.4 Scottish property

Clause 7.3 (*Automatic conversion*) will not apply to any assets situated in Scotland if, and to the extent that, a Receiver would not be capable of exercising his powers in Scotland pursuant to section 72 of the Insolvency Act 1986 by reason of such automatic conversion.

7.5 Partial conversion

The giving of a notice by the Security Agent pursuant to clause 7.1 (*Conversion by notice*) in relation to any asset or class of assets of any Chargor shall not be construed as a waiver or abandonment of the rights of the Security Agent to serve similar notices in respect of any other asset or class of assets or of any other right of the Security Agent and/or the other Secured Parties.

8 CONTINUING SECURITY

8.1 Continuing security

The Debenture Security is continuing and will extend to the ultimate balance of the Secured Obligations regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part. This Deed shall remain in full force and effect as a continuing security for the duration of the Security Period.

8.2 Additional and separate security

This Deed is in addition to, without prejudice to, and shall not merge with, any other right, remedy, guarantee or Security which the Security Agent and/or any other Secured Party may at any time hold for any Secured Obligation.

8.3 Right to enforce

This Deed may be enforced against each or any Chargor without the Security Agent and/or any other Secured Party first having recourse to any other right, remedy, guarantee or Security held by or available to it or any of them and each Chargor waives any right it may have of first requiring the Security Agent and/or any other Secured Party to first have recourse to any such other right, remedy, guarantee or Security held by or available to it or any of them.

9 LIABILITY OF CHARGORS RELATING TO SECURITY ASSETS

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Deed or implied to the contrary, each Chargor remains liable to observe and perform all conditions and obligations assumed by it in relation to the Security Assets. The Security Agent is under no obligation to

perform or fulfil any such condition or obligation or to make any payment in respect of any such condition or obligation.

10 ACCOUNTS

No monies at any time standing to the credit of any account (of any type and however designated) of any Chargor with the Security Agent and/or any other Secured Party (or any of them) or in which any Chargor has an interest (and no rights and benefits relating thereto) shall be capable of being assigned to any person other than a Secured Party.

11 REPRESENTATIONS

11.1 General

Each Original Chargor makes the representations and warranties set out in this clause 11 to the Security Agent and to each other Secured Party on the date of this Deed.

11.2 Ownership of Security Assets

- (a) Each Original Chargor (other than (i) Supernova UK Bidco Limited in respect of the Charged Securities it holds in Readytrade Limited, Northern Holdings Company Limited, SASA Foods Limited, Blue Bell Foods Limited and Soul Coffee House Limited and (ii) Northern Holdings Company Limited in respect of the one ordinary share in Chicken Cabins Limited transferred to it on or about the date of this Deed) is the sole legal and beneficial owner of all of the Security Assets identified against its name in schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*).
- (b) Each of Supernova UK Bidco Limited and Northern Holdings Company Limited will, following return to them (as applicable) of the stamped stock transfer forms relating to the Charged Securities that (i) Supernova UK Bidco Limited holds in Readytrade Limited, Northern Holdings Company Limited, SASA Foods Limited, Blue Bell Foods Limited and Soul Coffee House Limited and (ii) Northern Holdings Company Limited holds in Chicken Cabins Limited (in respect of the one ordinary share transferred to it on or about the date of this Deed), from HM Revenue & Customs and each applicable register of members being updated, be the sole legal and beneficial owner of the Charged Securities identified against their names in part 3 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*).

11.3 Charged Securities

- (a) The Charged Securities listed in part 3 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*) are fully paid and constitute the entire share capital owned by each Original Chargor in the relevant company and constitute the entire issued share capital of each such company.
- (a) The constitutional documents of each entity whose shares are subject to the Security created by this Deed do not restrict or inhibit any transfer of the Security Assets on creation or enforcement of the Security conferred by this Deed.

11.4 Real Property

Part 1 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*) identifies all Real Property which is beneficially owned by each Original Chargor at the date of this Deed except Real Property that is excluded from the Security created by this Deed pursuant to clause 6.1.

12 UNDERTAKINGS BY THE CHARGORS

12.1 Negative pledge and Disposals

- (a) No Chargor shall do or agree to do any of the following without the prior written consent of the Security Agent:
 - (i) create or permit to subsist any Security or Quasi-Security on any Security Asset other than as created by this Deed or a Permitted Lien; or
 - (ii) sell, transfer, lease, lend or otherwise dispose of (whether by a single transaction or a number of transactions and whether related or not and whether voluntarily or involuntarily) the whole or any part of its interest in any Security Asset (except as permitted by the Facilities Agreement).

(b) No Chargor shall:

- (i) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its assets on terms whereby they are or may be leased to or re-acquired by a Chargor or any other member of the Group;
- (ii) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its receivables on recourse terms;
- (iii) enter into any arrangement under which money or the benefit of a bank or other account may be applied, set-off or made subject to a combination of accounts; or
- (iv) enter into any other preferential arrangement having a similar effect,

in circumstances where the arrangement or transaction is entered into primarily as a method of raising Debt or of financing the acquisition of an asset (in each case, except as permitted by the Facilities Agreement),

(such arrangement and transactions being "Quasi-Security.")

12.2 Security Assets generally

Each Chargor shall:

- (a) notify the Security Agent within 10 Business Days of receipt of every material notice, order, application, requirement or proposal given or made in relation to the Security Assets by any competent authority, and (if required by the Security Agent):
 - (i) immediately provide it with a copy of the same; and

- (ii) either (A) comply with such notice, order, application, requirement or proposal or (B) make such objections to the same as the Security Agent may require or approve;
- (b) provide the Security Agent with all information which it may reasonably request in relation to the Security Assets; and
- (c) comply at all times with each affirmative covenant and negative covenant set forth in articles 11.01 and 11.02 of the Facilities Agreement which pertain to the Subsidiaries of the Borrowers.

12.3 Deposit of documents and notices relating to Real Property

Each Chargor shall, if requested by the Security Agent in writing, deposit with the Security Agent:

- (a) all deeds and documents of title relating to the Real Property charged pursuant to this Deed; and
- (b) all local land charges, land charges and the Land Registry search certificates and similar documents received by or on behalf of a Chargor in relation to the Real Property charged pursuant to this Deed,

which the Security Agent may hold throughout the Security Period; and

(c) immediately on request by the Security Agent, affix to any plant, machinery fixtures, fitting, computers, vehicles, office equipment, other equipment and other asset forming part of the Real Property charged pursuant to this Deed for the time being owned by it (in a prominent position) a durable notice of this Deed (in any form required by the Security Agent).

12.4 Real Property undertakings - acquisitions and notices to the Land Registry

Subject always to article 11.02(5) (Investments/Acquisitions/Financial Assistance) of the Facilities Agreement:

- (a) each Chargor shall notify the Security Agent promptly upon the acquisition of any estate or interest in any freehold or leasehold property (other than any Real Property that is excluded from the Security created by this Deed pursuant to clause 6.1); and
- (b) each Chargor shall, in respect of any Real Property which is acquired by it after the date of this Deed and which is charged pursuant to this Deed, the title to which is registered at the Land Registry or the title to which is required to be so registered:
 - (i) give the Land Registry written notice of this Deed; and
 - (ii) procure that notice of this Deed is clearly noted in the Register to each such title.

12.5 [Intentionally Blank]

12.6 Real Property undertakings - title investigation

Each Chargor shall grant the Security Agent on request all facilities within the power of that Chargor to enable the Security Agent (or its lawyers) to carry out investigations of title to the Real Property and to make all enquiries in relation to any part of the Real Property which a prudent mortgagee might carry out. These investigations shall be carried out at the expense of that relevant Chargor.

12.7 Insurance

- (a) Each Chargor shall at all times comply with its obligations as to insurance contained in the Facilities Agreement (and in particular, articles 11.01(11) (*Property Insurance*) and 11.01(12) (*Liability Insurance*) of the Facilities Agreement).
- (b) If at any time any Chargor defaults in;
 - (i) effecting or keeping up the insurances required under the Facilities Agreement; or
 - (ii) producing any insurance policy or receipt to the Security Agent within 10 Business Days of demand,

the Security Agent may (without prejudice to its rights under clause 13 (*Power to remedy*)) take out or renew such policies of insurance in any sum which the Security Agent may reasonably think expedient. All monies which are expended by the Security Agent in doing so shall be deemed to be properly paid by the Security Agent and shall be reimbursed by such Chargor on demand.

- (c) Each Chargor shall, subject to the rights of the Security Agent under clause 12.7(d), diligently pursue its rights under the Insurances.
- (d) In relation to the proceeds of Insurances:
 - (i) after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing the Security Agent shall have the sole right to settle or sue for any claim in respect of any Insurances and to give any discharge for insurance monies; and
 - (ii) all claims and monies received or receivable under any Insurances shall be applied in accordance with the Facilities Agreement, or other relevant document under which the Secured Obligations arise,

or, in each case after the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, in permanent reduction of the Secured Obligations in accordance with the Facilities Agreement or other relevant document under which the Secured Obligations arise.

12.8 Dealings with and realisation of Receivables and Collection Accounts

- (a) Each Chargor shall:
 - (i) without prejudice to clause 12.1 (*Negative pledge and Disposals*) (but in addition to the restrictions in that clause), not, without the prior written consent of the Security Agent, sell, assign, charge, factor or discount or in any other manner deal with any Receivable except to the extent permitted under the Facilities Agreement;
 - (ii) following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing collect all Receivables promptly in the ordinary course of trading as agent for the Security Agent; and
 - (iii) immediately upon receipt pay all monies which it receives in respect of the Receivables into:
 - (A) the account specified against its name in part 4 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets*) or, if applicable, in the schedule to any Accession Deed as a Collection Account;
 - (B) any other account held with an Account Bank over which the Chargors have granted Security to the Security Agent pursuant to the terms of this Deed; or
 - (C) following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing such specially designated account(s) with the Security Agent or another Account Bank as the Security Agent may from time to time direct,

(each such account(s) together with all additions to or renewals or replacements thereof (in whatever currency) being a "Collection Account"); and

- (iv) following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing pending such payment, hold all monies so received upon trust for the Security Agent.
- (b) Following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing each Chargor shall deal with the Receivables (both collected and uncollected) and the Collection Accounts in accordance with any directions given in writing from time to time by the Security Agent and, in default of and subject to such directions, in accordance with this Deed.

12.9 Operation of Collection Accounts

(a) After the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, no Chargor shall withdraw, attempt or be entitled to withdraw (or direct any transfer of) all or any part of the monies in any Collection Account without the prior written consent of the Security Agent and the Security Agent shall be entitled (in its absolute discretion) to refuse to permit any such withdrawal or transfer.

(b) If the right of a Chargor to withdraw the proceeds of any Receivables standing to the credit of a Collection Account results in the charge over that Collection Account being characterised as a floating charge, that will not affect the nature of any other fixed security created by any Chargor under this Deed on any of its outstanding Receivables.

12.10 Charged Investments - protection of security

(a)

- (i) Subject to paragraph (ii) below, each Chargor shall, within six Business Days of the date of this Deed or immediately upon the execution of an Accession Deed (as applicable) or (if later) as soon as is practicable after its acquisition of any Charged Securities, by way of security for the Secured Obligations:
 - (A) deposit with the Security Agent (or as the Security Agent may direct) all certificates and other documents of title or evidence of ownership to the Charged Securities and their Related Rights; and
 - (B) execute and deliver to the Security Agent:
 - 1) instruments of transfer in respect of the Charged Securities (executed in blank and left undated); and/or
 - 2) such other documents as the Security Agent shall require to enable it (or its nominees) to be registered as the owner of or otherwise to acquire a legal title to the Charged Securities and their Related Rights (or to pass legal title to any purchaser).
- (ii) Each of Supernova UK Bidco Limited and Northern Holdings Company Limited must pay or procure the payment of the required amount of stamp duty on the stock transfer forms in relation to the Charged Securities that Supernova UK Bidco Limited holds in Readytrade Limited, Northern Holdings Company Limited, SASA Foods Limited, Blue Bell Foods Limited and Soul Coffee House Limited and (ii) Northern Holdings Company Limited holds in Chicken Cabins Limited (but only in respect of the one ordinary share transferred to it on or about the date of this Deed) and, promptly following return to them of the stamped stock transfer forms relating to such newly acquired shares from HM Revenue & Customs, each of them shall:
 - (A) procure that each applicable subsidiary issues new share certificates in the name of Supernova UK Bidco Limited or Northern Holdings Company Limited (as applicable) and update its register of members; and

- (B) promptly deliver those share certificates and stock transfer forms executed in blank in respect of those share certificates to the Security Agent.
- (b) In respect of any Charged Investment held by or on behalf of any nominee of any clearance or settlement system, each Chargor shall immediately upon execution of this Deed or an Accession Deed or (if later) immediately upon acquisition of an interest in such Charged Investment deliver to the Security Agent duly executed stock notes or other document in the name of the Security Agent (or as it may direct) issued by such nominee and representing or evidencing any benefit or entitlement to such Charged Investment.
- (c) Each Chargor shall following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing:
 - (i) promptly give notice to any custodian of any agreement with such Chargor in respect of any Charged Investment in the form required by the Security Agent; and
 - (ii) use its best endeavours to ensure that the custodian acknowledges that notice in the form required by the Security Agent.
- (d) Each Chargor shall promptly following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing:
 - (i) instruct any clearance system to transfer any Charged Investment held by it for such Chargor or its nominee to an account of the Security Agent or its nominee with such clearance system as instructed by the Security Agent; and
 - (ii) take whatever action the Security Agent may request for the dematerialisation or rematerialisation of any Charged Investment held in a clearance system.

Without prejudice to the rest of this clause 12.10, the Security Agent may following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, at the expense of the relevant Chargor, take whatever action is required for the dematerialisation or rematerialisation of the Charged Investments.

- (e) Each Chargor shall promptly pay all calls or other payments which may become due in respect of its Charged Investments.
- (f) No Chargor shall nominate another person to enjoy or exercise all or any specified rights of the Chargor in relation to its Charged Investments, as contemplated by section 145 of the Companies Act 2006 or otherwise.

12.11 Rights of the Parties In respect of Charged Investments

- (a) Unless an Event of Default is continuing, each Chargor shall be entitled to:
 - (i) receive and retain all dividends, distributions and other monies paid on or derived from its Charged Securities; and

- (ii) exercise all voting and other rights and powers attaching to its Charged Securities, provided that it must not do so in a manner which:
 - (A) has the effect of changing the terms of such Charged Securities (or any class of them) or of any Related Rights; or
 - (B) is prejudicial to the interests of the Security Agent and/or the other Secured Parties.
- (b) At any time following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, the Security Agent may complete the instrument(s) of transfer for all or any Charged Securities on behalf of any Chargor in favour of itself or such other person as it may select.
- (c) At any time when any Charged Securities are registered in the name of the Security Agent or its nominee, the Security Agent shall be under no duty to:
 - (i) ensure that any dividends, distributions or other monies payable in respect of such Charged Securities are duly and promptly paid or received by it or its nominee;
 - (ii) verify that the correct amounts are paid or received; or
 - (iii) take any action in connection with the taking up of any (or any offer of any) Related Rights in respect of or in substitution for, any such Charged Securities.

13 POWER TO REMEDY

13.1 Power to remedy

If at any time a Chargor does not comply with any of its obligations under this Deed, the Security Agent (without prejudice to any other rights arising as a consequence of such non-compliance) shall be entitled (but not bound) to rectify that default. The relevant Chargor irrevocably authorises the Security Agent and its employees and agents by way of security to do all such things (including entering the property of such Chargor) which are necessary or desirable to rectify that default.

13.2 Mortgagee in possession

The exercise of the powers of the Security Agent under this clause 13 shall not render it, or any other Secured Party, liable as a mortgagee in possession.

13.3 Monies expended

The relevant Chargor shall pay to the Security Agent on demand any monies which are expended by the Security Agent in exercising its powers under this clause 13, together with interest at the Default Rate from the date on which those monies were expended by the Security Agent (both before and after judgment) and otherwise in accordance with clause 2.2 (*Default interest*).

14 WHEN SECURITY BECOMES ENFORCEABLE

14.1 When enforceable

This Debenture Security shall become immediately enforceable upon the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing.

14.2 Statutory powers

The power of sale and other powers conferred by section 101 of the Act (as amended or extended by this Deed) shall be immediately exercisable upon and at any time after this Debenture Security has become enforceable.

14.3 Enforcement

After this Debenture Security has become enforceable, the Security Agent may in its absolute discretion enforce all or any part of the Debenture Security in such manner as it sees fit.

15 ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY

15.1 General

For the purposes of all rights and powers implied by statute, the Secured Obligations are deemed to have become due and payable on the date of this Deed. Sections 93 and 103 of the Act shall not apply to the Debenture Security.

15.2 Powers of leasing

The statutory powers of leasing conferred on the Security Agent are extended so as to authorise the Security Agent to lease, make agreements for leases, accept surrenders of leases and grant options as the Security Agent may think fit and without the need to comply with section 99 or 100 of the Act.

15.3 Powers of Security Agent

- (a) At any time after the Debenture Security becomes enforceable (or if so requested by any Chargor by written notice at any time), the Security Agent may without further notice (unless required by law):
 - (i) appoint any person (or persons) to be a receiver, receiver and manager or administrative receiver of all or any part of the Security Assets and/or of the income of the Security Assets; and/or
 - (ii) appoint or apply for the appointment of any person who is appropriately qualified as administrator of a Chargor; and/or
 - (iii) exercise all or any of the powers conferred on mortgagees by the Act (as amended or extended by this Deed) and/or all or any of the powers which are conferred by this Deed on a Receiver, in each case without first appointing a Receiver or notwithstanding the appointment of any Receiver; and/or

- (iv) exercise (in the name of any Chargor and without any further consent or authority of such Chargor) any voting rights and any powers or rights which may be exercised by any person(s) in whose name any Charged Investment is registered or who is the holder of any of them.
- (b) The Security Agent is not entitled to appoint a Receiver solely as a result of the obtaining of a moratorium (or anything done with a view to obtaining a moratorium) under Part A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 other than in respect of a floating charge referred to in subsection (4) of section A52 of Part A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986.

15.4 Redemption of prior mortgages

At any time after the Debenture Security has become enforceable, the Security Agent may:

- (a) redeem any prior Security against any Security Asset; and/or
- (b) procure the transfer of that Security to itself; and/or
- (c) settle and pass the accounts of the holder of any prior Security and any accounts so settled and passed shall be conclusive and binding on each Chargor.

All principal, interest, costs, charges and expenses of and incidental to any such redemption and/or transfer shall be paid by the relevant Chargor to the Security Agent on demand.

15.5 Privileges

- (a) Each Receiver and the Security Agent is entitled to all the rights, powers, privileges and immunities conferred by the Act on mortgagees and receivers when such receivers have been duly appointed under the Act, except that section 103 of the Act does not apply.
- (b) To the extent that the Security Assets constitute "financial collateral" and this Deed and the obligations of the Chargors under this Deed constitute a "security financial collateral arrangement" (in each case for the purpose of and as defined in the Financial Collateral Arrangements (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (SI 2003 No. 3226)) each Receiver and the Security Agent shall have the right after the Debenture Security has become enforceable to appropriate all or any part of that financial collateral in or towards the satisfaction of the Secured Obligations.
- (c) For the purpose of clause 15.5(b), the value of the financial collateral appropriated shall be such amount as the Receiver or Security Agent reasonably determines having taken into account advice obtained by it from an independent investment or accountancy firm of national standing selected by it.

15.6 No liability

(a) Neither the Security Agent, any other Secured Party nor any Receiver or Delegate shall be liable (A) in respect of all or any part of the Security Assets or (B) for any loss or damage which arises out of the exercise or the attempted or

purported exercise of, or the failure to exercise any of, its or his respective powers (unless such loss or damage is caused by its or his gross negligence or wilful misconduct).

(b) Without prejudice to the generality of clause 15.6(a), neither the Security Agent, any other Secured Party nor any Receiver or Delegate shall be liable, by reason of entering into possession of a Security Asset, to account as mortgagee in possession or for any loss on realisation or for any default or omission for which a mortgagee in possession might be liable.

15.7 Protection of third parties

No person (including a purchaser) dealing with the Security Agent or any Receiver or Delegate will be concerned to enquire:

- (a) whether the Secured Obligations have become payable;
- (b) whether any power which the Security Agent or the Receiver is purporting to exercise has become exercisable;
- (c) whether any money remains due under any Loan Document; or
- (d) how any money paid to the Security Agent or to the Receiver is to be applied.

16 RECEIVER

16.1 Removal and replacement

The Security Agent may from time to time remove any Receiver appointed by it (subject, in the case of an administrative receivership, to section 45 of the Insolvency Act 1986) and, whenever it may deem appropriate, may appoint a new Receiver in the place of any Receiver whose appointment has terminated.

16.2 Multiple Receivers

If at any time there is more than one Receiver of all or any part of the Security Assets and/or the income of the Security Assets, each Receiver shall have power to act individually (unless otherwise stated in the appointment document).

16.3 Remuneration

Any Receiver shall be entitled to remuneration for his services at a rate to be fixed by agreement between him and the Security Agent (or, failing such agreement, to be fixed by the Security Agent).

16.4 Payment by Receiver

Only monies actually paid by a Receiver to the Security Agent in relation to the Secured Obligations shall be capable of being applied by the Security Agent in discharge of the Secured Obligations.

16.5 Agent of Chargors

Any Receiver shall be the agent of the Chargor in respect of which it is appointed. Such Chargor shall (subject to the Companies Act 2006 and the Insolvency Act 1986) be solely responsible for his acts and defaults and for the payment of his remuneration. No Secured Party shall incur any liability (either to such Chargor or to any other person) by reason of the appointment of a Receiver or for any other reason.

17 POWERS OF RECEIVER

17.1 General powers

Any Receiver shall have:

- (a) all the powers which are conferred on the Security Agent by clause 15.3 (*Powers of Security Agent*);
- (b) all the powers which are conferred by the Act on mortgagees in possession and receivers appointed under the Act;
- (c) (whether or not he is an administrative receiver) all the powers which are listed in schedule 1 of the Insolvency Act 1986; and
- (d) all powers which are conferred by any other law conferring power on receivers.

17.2 Additional powers

In addition to the powers referred to in clause 17.1 (*General powers*), a Receiver shall have the following powers:

- (a) to take possession of, collect and get in all or any part of the Security Assets and/or income in respect of which he was appointed;
- (b) to manage the Security Assets and the business of any Chargor as he thinks fit;
- (c) to redeem any Security and to borrow or raise any money and secure the payment of any money in priority to the Secured Obligations for the purpose of the exercise of his powers and/or defraying any costs or liabilities incurred by him in such exercise;
- (d) to sell or concur in selling, leasing or otherwise disposing of all or any part of the Security Assets in respect of which he was appointed without the need to observe the restrictions imposed by section 103 of the Act, and, without limitation;
 - (i) fixtures may be severed and sold separately from the Real Property containing them, without the consent of any Chargor;
 - (ii) the consideration for any such transaction may consist of cash, debentures or other obligations, shares, stock or other valuable consideration (and the amount of such consideration may be dependent upon profit or turnover or be determined by a third party); and

- (iii) any such consideration may be payable in a lump sum or by instalments spread over such period as he thinks fit;
- (e) to alter, improve, develop, complete, construct, modify, refurbish or repair any building or land and to complete or undertake or concur in the completion or undertaking (with or without modification) of any project in which any Chargor was concerned or interested before his appointment (being a project for the alteration, improvement, development, completion, construction, modification, refurbishment or repair of any building or land);
- (f) to carry out any sale, lease or other disposal of all or any part of the Security Assets by conveying, transferring, assigning or leasing the same in the name of the relevant Chargor and, for that purpose, to enter into covenants and other contractual obligations in the name of, and so as to bind, such Chargor;
- (g) to take any such proceedings (in the name of any of the relevant Chargors or otherwise) as he shall think fit in respect of the Security Assets and/or income in respect of which he was appointed (including proceedings for recovery of rent or other monies in arrears at the date of his appointment);
- (h) to enter into or make any such agreement, arrangement or compromise as he shall think fit;
- (i) to insure, and to renew any insurances in respect of, the Security Assets as he shall think fit (or as the Security Agent shall direct);
- (j) to appoint and employ such managers, officers and workmen and engage such professional advisers as he shall think fit (including, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing power, to employ his partners and firm);
- (k) to form one or more Subsidiaries of any Chargor and to transfer to any such Subsidiary all or any part of the Security Assets;
- (l) to operate any rent review clause in respect of any Real Property in respect of which he was appointed (or any part thereof) and to apply for any new or extended lease:
- (m) to:
 - give valid receipts for all monies and to do all such other things as may seem to him to be incidental or conducive to any other power vested in him or necessary or desirable for the realisation of any Security Asset;
 - (ii) exercise in relation to each Security Asset all such powers and rights as he would be capable of exercising if he were the absolute beneficial owner of the Security Assets; and
 - (iii) use the name of any Chargor for any of the above purposes; and
- (n) to do all such other acts and things as he may in his discretion consider to be incidental or conducive to any of the matters or powers set out in this Deed or

otherwise incidental or conducive to the preservation, improvement or realisation of the Security Assets.

18 APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

18.1 Application

All monies received by the Security Agent or any Receiver after the Debenture Security has become enforceable shall (subject to the rights and claims of any person having a security ranking in priority to the Debenture Security) be applied accordance with clause 15.1 (*Order of application*) of the Subordination Deed.

18.2 Contingencies

If the Debenture Security is enforced at a time when no Secured Obligations are due (but at a time when amounts may become so due), the Security Agent or a Receiver may pay the proceeds of any recoveries effected by it into a blocked suspense account (bearing interest at such rate (if any) as the Security Agent usually grants for accounts of that size and nature.

18.3 Appropriation, Subordination Deed and suspense account

- (a) Subject to the Subordination Deed and clause 18.1 (*Application*), the Security Agent shall apply all payments received in respect of the Secured Obligations in reduction of any part of the Secured Obligations in any order or manner which it may determine.
- (b) Any such appropriation shall override any appropriation by any Chargor.
- (c) All monies received, recovered or realised by the Security Agent under or in connection with this Deed may at the discretion of the Security Agent be credited to a separate interest-bearing suspense account for so long as the Security Agent determines (with interest accruing thereon at such rate (if any) as the Security Agent usually grants for accounts of that size and nature) without the Security Agent having any obligation to apply such monies and interest or any part of it in or towards the discharge of any of the Secured Obligations unless such monies would be sufficient to discharge all Secured Obligations in full.

19 SET-OFF

19.1 Set-off rights

- (a) The Security Agent and each other Secured Party may (but shall not be obliged to) set off any obligation which is due and payable by any Chargor and unpaid against any obligation (whether or not matured) owed by the Security Agent or such other Secured Party to such Chargor, regardless of the place of payment, booking branch or currency of either obligation.
- (b) At any time after the Debenture Security has become enforceable (and in addition to its rights under clause 19.1(a)), the Security Agent and each other Secured Party may (but shall not be obliged to) set-off any contingent liability

owed by a Chargor under any Loan Document against any obligation (whether or not matured) owed by the Security Agent or such other Secured Party to such Chargor, regardless of the place of payment, booking branch or currency of either obligation.

- (c) If the obligations are in different currencies, the Security Agent or such other Secured Party may convert either obligation at a market rate of exchange in its usual course of business for the purpose of the set-off.
- (d) If either obligation is unliquidated or unascertained, the Security Agent or such other Secured Party may set off in an amount estimated by it in good faith to be the amount of that obligation.

19.2 Time deposits

Without prejudice to clause 19.1 (*Set-off rights*), if any time deposit matures on any account which any Chargor has with the Security Agent or any other Secured Party at a time within the Security Period when:

- (a) this Debenture Security has become enforceable; and
- (b) no Secured Obligation is due and payable,

such time deposit shall automatically be renewed for such further maturity as the Security Agent or such other Secured Party in its absolute discretion considers appropriate unless the Security Agent or such other Secured Party otherwise agrees in writing.

20 DELEGATION

Each of the Security Agent and any Receiver may delegate, by power of attorney (or in any other manner) to any person, any right, power or discretion exercisable by them under this Deed upon any terms (including power to sub-delegate) which it may think fit. Neither the Security Agent nor any Receiver shall be in any way liable or responsible to any Chargor for any loss or liability arising from any act, default, omission or misconduct on the part of any Delegate.

21 FURTHER ASSURANCES

- (a) Each Chargor shall at its own expense, promptly do all such acts and execute all such documents (including assignments, transfers, mortgages, charges, notices and instructions) as the Security Agent or a Receiver may reasonably specify (and in such form as the Security Agent or a Receiver may reasonably require) in favour of the Security Agent, a Receiver or its nominees in order to:
 - (i) perfect the Security created or intended to be created under or evidenced by this Deed or for the exercise of any rights, powers and remedies exercisable by the Security Agent, any other Secured Party or any Receiver or any Delegate in respect of any Security Asset or provided by or pursuant to this Deed or by law; and/or

- (ii) confer on the Security Agent, any Receiver or the Secured Parties Security over any property and assets of that Chargor located in any jurisdiction equivalent or similar to the Security intended to be conferred by or pursuant to this Deed; and/or
- (iii) facilitate the realisation of the assets which are, or are intended to be, the subject of the Debenture Security.
- (b) Each Chargor shall take all such action as is available to it (including making all filings and registrations) as may be necessary for the purpose of the creation, perfection, protection or maintenance of any Security conferred or intended to be conferred on the Security Agent or the Secured Parties by or pursuant to this Deed.
- (c) Without prejudice to the generality of clause 21(a), each Chargor will immediately upon request by the Security Agent execute any document contemplated by that clause over any Security Asset which is subject to or intended to be subject to any fixed security under this Deed (including any fixed security arising or intended to arise pursuant to clauses 6 (*Exclusions*) and 7 (*Conversion of floating charge*)).

22 POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each Chargor, by way of security, irrevocably and severally appoints the Security Agent, each Receiver and any Delegate to be its attorney to take any action which such Chargor is obliged to take under this Deed, including under clause 21 (*Further assurances*). Each Chargor ratifies and confirms whatever any attorney does or purports to do pursuant to its appointment under this clause.

23 CURRENCY CONVERSION

All monies received or held by the Security Agent or any Receiver under this Deed may be converted from their existing currency into such other currency as the Security Agent or the Receiver considers necessary or desirable to cover the obligations and liabilities comprised in the Secured Obligations in that other currency at the Administrative Agent's spot rate of exchange. Each Chargor shall indemnify the Security Agent against all costs, charges and expenses incurred in relation to such conversion. Neither the Security Agent nor any Receiver shall have any liability to any Chargor in respect of any loss resulting from any fluctuation in exchange rates after any such conversion.

24 CHANGES TO THE PARTIES

24.1 Chargors

No Chargor may assign any of its rights or obligations under this Deed.

24.2 Security Agent

The Security Agent may assign or transfer all or any part of its rights under this Deed pursuant to the resignation or removal of the Security Agent in accordance with the Subordination Deed. Each Chargor shall, immediately upon being requested to do so

by the Security Agent, enter into such documents as may be necessary or desirable to effect such assignment or transfer.

24.3 Accession Deed

Each Chargor:

- (a) consents to new Subsidiaries of the UK Borrower becoming Chargors; and
- (b) irrevocably authorises the UK Borrower to agree to and sign any duly completed Accession Deed as agent and attorney for and on behalf of such Chargor.

25 MISCELLANEOUS

25.1 New accounts

- (a) If the Security Agent or any other Secured Party receives, or is deemed to be affected by, notice, whether actual or constructive, of any subsequent Security (other than a Permitted Lien) affecting any Security Asset and/or the proceeds of sale of any Security Asset or any guarantee in respect of any of the Secured Obligations ceases to continue in force, it may open a new account or accounts for any Chargor. If it does not open a new account, it shall nevertheless be treated as if it had done so at the time when it received or was deemed to have received such notice.
- (b) As from that time all payments made to the Security Agent or such other Secured Party will be credited or be treated as having been credited to the new account and will not operate to reduce any amount of the Secured Obligations.

25.2 Tacking

- (a) Each Secured Party shall perform its obligations under the Facilities Agreement (including any obligation to make available further advances).
- (b) This Deed secures advances already made and further advances to be made.

25.3 Land Registry

(a) Save in respect of any Short Leasehold Property, each Chargor shall apply to the Chief Land Registrar (and consents to such an application being made by or on behalf of the Security Agent) for a restriction in the following terms to be entered on the Register of Title relating to any property registered at the Land Registry (or any unregistered land subject to first registration) and against which this Deed may be noted:

"No disposition of the registered estate by the proprietor of the registered estate is to be registered without a written consent signed by the proprietor for the time being of the charge dated [•] in favour of [•] referred to in the charges register or their conveyancer."

(b) Each Chargor:

- (i) authorises the Security Agent to make any application which the Security Agent deems appropriate for the designation of this Deed, the Facilities Agreement or any other Loan Document as an exempt information document under rule 136 of the Land Registration Rules 2003;
- (ii) shall use its best endeavours to assist with any such application made by or on behalf of the Security Agent; and
- (iii) shall notify the Security Agent in writing as soon as it receives notice of any person's application under rule 137 of the Land Registration Rules 2003 for the disclosure of this Deed, the Facilities Agreement, or any other Loan Document following its designation as an exempt information document.
- (c) No Chargor shall make any application under rule 138 of the Land Registration Rules 2003 for the removal of the designation of any such document as an exempt information document.
- (d) Each Chargor shall promptly make all applications to and filings with the Land Registry which are necessary or desirable under the Land Registration Rules 2003 to protect the Debenture Security.

25.4 Protective clauses

- (a) Each Chargor is deemed to be a principal debtor in relation to this Deed. The obligations of each Chargor under, and the security intended to be created by, this Deed shall not be impaired by any forbearance, neglect, indulgence, extension or time, release, surrender or loss of securities, dealing, amendment or arrangement by any Secured Party which would otherwise have reduced, released or prejudiced this Debenture Security or any surety liability of a Chargor (whether or not known to it or to any Secured Party).
- (b) Clauses 2.4 (Waiver of defences), 2.5 (Guarantor intent) and 2.8 (Deferral of Guarantors rights) of the Omnibus Guarantee apply in relation to this Deed as if references to the obligations referred to in such clauses respectively were references to the obligations of each Chargor under this Deed.

26 NOTICES

- (a) Any communication to be made under or in connection with this Deed shall be made in writing and, unless otherwise stated, may be made by letter or email.
- (b) The address and email address (and the department or officer, if any, for whose attention the communication is to be made) of each party to this Deed for any communication or document to be made or delivered under or in connection with this Deed is (a) that identified with its name on the execution pages of this Deed; or (b) any substitute or additional address, email address or department or officer as the party may notify to each other by not less than five Business Days' notice.

- (c) Any communication or document made or delivered by one person to another under or in connection with this Deed will only be effective:
 - (i) if by way of email, when received in legible form; or
 - (ii) if by way of letter, when it has been left at the relevant address or five Business Days after being deposited in the post postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address,

and, if a particular department or officer is specified as part of its address details provided under paragraph (b) above, if addressed to that department or officer.

- (d) Any communication or document to be made or delivered to the Security Agent will be effective only when actually received by the Security Agent and then only if it is expressly marked for the attention of the department or officer identified with the Security Agent's signature below (or any substitute department or officer as the Security Agent shall specify for this purpose).
- (e) Any communication or document made or delivered to the UK Borrower in accordance with this clause 26 (*Notices*) will be deemed to have been made or delivered to each of the Chargors.
- (f) Any communication or document which becomes effective, in accordance with paragraphs (c) to (e) above, after 5.00 p.m. in the place of receipt shall be deemed only to become effective on the following day.
- (g) Any notice (and any associated document) given under or in connection with this Deed must be in English.

27 CALCULATIONS AND CERTIFICATES

Any certificate of or determination by a Secured Party, the Security Agent or the Administrative Agent specifying the amount of any Secured Obligation due from the Chargors (including details of any relevant calculation thereof) is, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence against the Chargors of the matters to which it relates.

28 PARTIAL INVALIDITY

All the provisions of this Deed are severable and distinct from one another and if at any time any provision is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of any of the remaining provisions nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction will in any way be affected or impaired.

29 REMEDIES AND WAIVERS

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Security Agent (or any other Secured Party), any right or remedy under this Deed shall operate as a waiver,

nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right or remedy prevent any further or other exercise, or the exercise of any other right or remedy. The rights and remedies provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

30 AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS

Any provision of this Deed may be amended in writing by the Security Agent and the Chargors (or the UK Borrower acting on their behalf) and each Chargor irrevocably appoints the UK Borrower as its agent for the purpose of agreeing and executing any amendment to this Deed on its behalf. Any breach of this Deed may be waived before or after it occurs only if the Security Agent so agrees in writing. A waiver given or consent granted by the Security Agent under this Deed will be effective only if given in writing and then only in the instance and for the purpose for which it is given.

31 COUNTERPARTS

This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, and this has the same effect as if the signatures (and seals, if any) on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Deed.

32 RELEASE

32.1 Release

Upon the expiry of the Security Period (but not otherwise) the Security Agent shall, at the request and cost of the Chargors, take whatever action is necessary to release or reassign (without recourse or warranty) the Security Assets from the Debenture Security.

32.2 Reinstatement

Where any discharge (whether in respect of the obligations of any Chargor or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is made in whole or in part or any arrangement is made on the faith of any payment, security or other disposition which is avoided or must be restored on insolvency, liquidation or otherwise (without limitation), the liability of the Chargors under this Deed shall continue as if the discharge or arrangement had not occurred. The Security Agent may concede or compromise any claim that any payment, security or other disposition is liable to avoidance or restoration.

33 GOVERNING LAW

This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by English law.

34 ENFORCEMENT AND JURISDICTION

(a) The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Deed (including a dispute relating to the existence, validity or termination of this Deed or any non-contractual obligation arising out of or in connection with this Deed) (a "**Dispute**").

- (b) The Parties agree that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle Disputes and accordingly no Party will argue to the contrary.
- (c) This clause 34 is for the benefit of the Secured Parties only. As a result, no Secured Party shall be prevented from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, the Secured Parties may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

IN WITNESS of which this Deed has been duly executed by each Original Chargor as a deed and duly executed by the Security Agent and has been delivered on the first date specified on page 1 of this Deed by each Original Chargor.

SCHEDULE 1: THE ORIGINAL CHARGORS

Name of Company	Company number	Registered Office
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	13655939	52-54 Gracechurch Street, London, England, EC3V 0EH
Readytrade Limited	09671182	64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, United Kingdom, HA6 2EH
Northern Holdings Company Limited	01691178	64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH
Chicken Cabins Limited	00865970	64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH
SASA Foods Limited	10697256	64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, England, HA6 2EH
Blue Bell Foods Limited	07537614	64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH
Soul Coffee House Limited	09371749	64 Wolsey Road Moor Park, Northwood, HA6 2EH
Soul Coffee House (West) Limited	09371815	64 Wolsey Road Moor Park, Northwood, HA6 2EH
Soul Coffee House (East) Limited	09371819	64 Wolsey Road Moor Park, Northwood, HA6 2EH
Soul Coffee House (Central) Limited	09371863	64 Wolsey Road Moor Park, Northwood, HA6 2EH
Soul Coffee House (London) Limited	10070599	64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, United Kingdom, HA6 2EH
Soul Coffee House (South) Limited	09371847	64 Wolsey Road Moor Park, Northwood, HA6 2EH
Supernova Can UK Holdco Limited	13832690	4th Floor 52-54 Gracechurch Street, London, England, EC3V 0EH

SCHEDULE 2: DETAILS OF SECURITY ASSETS

Part 1: Real Property

Registered land					
Chargor	Address	Administrative area	Title number (if applicable)		
Chicken Cabins Limited	246 Roundhay Road, Harehills, Leeds, LS8 5RL	Leeds	WYK741302		
Chicken Cabins Limited	380 Dewsbury Road, Beeston, Leeds, LS11 7JS	Leeds	WYK868565		
Chicken Cabins Limited	521-523 West Derby Road, Tuebrook, Liverpool, L13 8AA	Liverpool	MS547046		
Chicken Cabins Limited	The Oval, Anchor Street, Hunslet Green, Leeds, LS10 2AG	Leeds	WYK939537		
Readytrade Limited	Pickford Place, Meir, Stoke on Trent, ST3 7DX	Stoke on Trent	SF615791		
SASA Foods Limited	549 Edge Lane, Old Swan, Merseyside, L13 1AA	Merseyside	MS653561		
SASA Foods Limited	Church Road, Litherland, Liverpool, L21 7PH	Liverpool	MS653560		
SASA Foods Limited	Haslingden Road, Blackburn, BB2 3HQ	Blackburn	LAN201948		
SASA Foods Limited	East Prescot Road, Liverpool, Merseyside, L14 2DF	Merseyside	MS653559		
SASA Foods Limited	Unit 14, Stonedale Retail Park, East Lancs Road, Liverpool, L11 9DH	Liverpool	MS653558		
SASA Foods Limited	56 Kings Way South, Latchford, Warrington, WA4 1LJ	Warrington	CH668028		
SASA Foods Limited	Hyde Road, Garrett Way, Gorton, Manchester, M18 8HE	Manchester	MAN315693		

SASA Foods Limited	Union street, Hyde, SK14 1ND	Hyde	MAN309941
SASA Foods Limited	93 Huddersfield Road, Oldham, OL1 3NQ	Oldham	MAN318257
SASA Foods Limited	Sankey Way (and Old Liverpool Road), Warrington, WA5 1AF	Warrington	СН668027
SASA Foods Limited	Unit 1 Blue Berry Business Park, Kingsway, Rochdale, OL16 5DB	Rochdale	MAN309938
Chicken Cabins Limited	52 Speke Road, Garston, Liverpool, Merseyside, L19 2PA	Merseyside	Lease not yet registered.
Chicken Cabins Limited	Unit 11, Alban Retail Park, Hawleys Lane, Warrington, WA2 8TW	Warrington	Lease not yet registered.
Chicken Cabins Limited	Bury Rd, Bolton, BL2 6PY	Bolton	Lease not yet registered.
Soul Coffee House Limited	169 High Street, Rickmansworth, WD3 1AY	Rickmansworth	HD551754

Part 2: Unregistered Land

	Ţ	Registered land	
Chargor	Address	Administrative area	Title number (if applicable)
None at the date	e of this Deed		

Part 3: Charged Securities

Chargor	Subsidiary	Number and class of shares
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	Readytrade Limited	100 Ordinary shares
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	Northern Holdings Company Limited	31,000 Ordinary shares

Supernova UK Bidco Limited	SASA Foods Limited	1 Ordinary share
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	Blue Bell Foods Limited	1 Ordinary share
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	Soul Coffee House Limited	1 Ordinary share
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	Supernova Can UK 1,000,100 Ordinary shares Holdco Limited	
Northern Holdings Company Limited	Chicken Cabins Limited	1,600 Ordinary shares; and 16,000 deferred shares
Soul Coffee House Limited	Soul Coffee House (West) Limited	1 Ordinary share
Soul Coffee House Limited	Soul Coffee House (East) Limited	1 Ordinary share
Soul Coffee House Limited	Soul Coffee House (Central) Limited	1 Ordinary share
Soul Coffee House Limited	Soul Coffee House (London) Limited	1 Ordinary share
Soul Coffee House Limited	Soul Coffee House (South) Limited	1 Ordinary share

Part 4: Charged Accounts

Collection Accounts				
Account Holder	Account Number	Account Bank	Account bank branch address and sort code	
Supernova UK Bidco Limited		Barclays Bank Plc	Address: 1 Churchill Place, E14 5HP, London, England Sort code:	
Supernova UK Bidco Limited		Barclays Bank Plc	Address: 1 Churchill Place, E14 5HP, London, England Sort code:	

Supernova CAN UK Holdco Limited	Barcl Bank	-
Supernova CAN UK Holdco Limited	Barcl Bank	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	HSB0 plc	C Bank Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Supernova UK Bidco Limited	HSB0 plc	C Bank Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Soul Coffee House (West) Limited	HSB0 plc	C Bank Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Soul Coffee House (East) Limited	HSB0 plc	C Bank Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Soul Coffee House (Central) Limited	HSB0 plc	C Bank Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Soul Coffee House (London) Limited	HSB0 plc	C Bank Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Soul Coffee House (South) Limited	HSB0 plc	C Bank Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Chicken Cabins Limited	Natio West Bank	minster 1EG, Bradford, England

Readytrade Limited	HSBC Bank Plc	Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code
SASA Foods Limited	HSBC Bank Plc	Address: 69 Pall Mall, SW1Y 5EY, London, England Sort code:
Blue Bell Foods Limited	National Westminster Bank Plc	Address: 1 Market Street, BD1 1EG, Bradford, England Sort code:

Part 5: Intellectual Property

Proprietor/ADP number	TM numb	er Jurisdiction/ apparent status	Classes	Mark text
None at the date of this Deed				
		Part 4B – Patents		
Proprietor/ADP	number	Patent number	Descri	ption

Part 6: Relevant Contracts

Date of Relevant Contract	Parties Details of Relevant Contract			
Each intercompany loan agreement dated on or about the date of this Deed and made between				
a Chargor (as lender) and a mem	ber of the Group (as borrower).			

Part 7: Insurances

Chargor	Insurer	Policy number
Supernova UK Bidco Limited, Soul	Burns & Wilcox Ltd	BP05873-1901
Coffee House Limited, Soul Coffee		
House (Central) Limited, Soul		
Coffee House (West) Limited,		

Chargor	Insurer	Policy number
Soul Coffee House (South) Limited, Soul Coffee House (East) Limited, Soul Coffee House (London) Limited		
Supernova UK Bidco Limited, SASA Foods Limited	Burns & Wilcox Ltd	BP06482-2201
Supernova UK Bidco Limited, Northern Holdings Company Limited, Chicken Cabins Limited, Blue Bell Foods Limited, Readytrade Limited	Burns & Wilcox Ltd	BP06481-2201

SCHEDULE 3: FORM OF NOTICE TO AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FROM ACCOUNT BANK

Part 1: Form of notice of charge to Account Bank

Го:	[insert name and address of Account Bank]	

Dated:	[♦

Dear Sirs

We hereby give notice that, by a debenture dated [] 2022 (the "Debenture") we have charged to [] (the "Security Agent") as security agent for the Secured Parties (as referred to in the Debenture) all our present and future right, title and interest in and to the following accounts in our name with you, all monies from time to time standing to the credit of those accounts and all interest from time to time accrued or accruing on those accounts, any investment made out of any such monies or account and all rights to repayment of any of the foregoing by you:

[Insert details of accounts] (together the "Accounts")

For the purposes of this notice and the attached acknowledgement, the term "Event of Default" has the meaning given to that term in the Debenture.

We hereby irrevocably instruct and authorise you:

- to credit to each Account all interest from time to time earned on the sums of money held in that Account;
- to disclose to the Security Agent, without any reference to or further authority from us and without any liability or inquiry by you as to the justification for such disclosure, such information relating to the Accounts and the sums in each Account as the Security Agent may, at any time and from time, request you to disclose;
- to hold all sums from time to time standing to the credit of each Account in our name with you to the order of the Security Agent;
- 4 to pay or release all or any part of the sums from time to time standing to the credit of each Account in our name with you in accordance with the written instructions of the Security Agent at any time and from time to time; and
- to comply with the terms of any written notice or instructions in any way relating to the Accounts or the sums standing to the credit of any Account from time to time which you may receive at any time from the Security Agent without any reference to or further authority from us and without any liability or inquiry by you as to the justification for or validity of such notice or instructions.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Security Agent shall not be entitled to exercise any of its rights pursuant to or in connection with paragraphs 3 and 4 above and shall not be entitled to serve any notice or give any instruction pursuant to paragraph 5 above unless and until an Event of Default has occurred (as notified to you in writing by the Security Agent).

By countersigning this notice, the Security Agent confirms that we may make withdrawals from the Accounts until such time as the Security Agent shall notify you in writing that its rights have become enforceable in accordance with the terms of the Debenture and that its permission is withdrawn, whereupon we will not be permitted to withdraw any amounts from any Account without the prior written consent of the Security Agent.

These instructions cannot be revoked or varied without the prior written consent of the Security Agent.

This notice, any acknowledgement in connection with it, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with any of them shall be governed by English law.

Please confirm your acceptance of the above instructions by returning the attached acknowledgement to the Security Agent with a copy to ourselves.

Yours faithfully	
By for and behalf of [relevant Chargor]	
[.e.e., mar en m.g.v.]	
Ву	
for and behalf of	
[Security Agent]	

Part 2: Form of acknowledgement from Account Bank

	•	
To:	[insert name and address of Security Agent]	
	Dated: [♦	20�]
Dear S	Sirs	
We co	onfirm receipt of a notice dated [♦] 20♦ (the "Notice") from [relevant Cha	rgor]
Compain the and all	Company") of a charge upon the terms of a Debenture dated [♦] 2022, over a pany's present and future right, title and interest in and to the following accounts we name of the Company together with all monies standing to the credit of those accell interest from time to time accrued or accruing on those accounts, any investment of any such monies or account and all rights of repayment of any of the foregoing by	ith us ounts made
[♦] (together the "Accounts").	
We co	onfirm that:	
1	we accept the instructions and authorisation contained in the Notice and underta comply with its terms;	ke to
2	we have not received notice of the interest of any third party in any Account or is sums of money held in any Account or the debts represented by those sums and we notify you promptly should we receive notice of any third party interest;	
3	we have not claimed or exercised, nor will we claim or exercise, any Security or of set-off or combination or counterclaim or other right in respect of any Account sums of money held in any Account or the debts represented by those sums;	_
4	until you notify us in writing that withdrawals are prohibited, the Company may withdrawals from the Accounts; upon receipt of such notice we will not permi amount to be withdrawn from any Account except against the signature of one of authorised signatories; and	t any
5	we will not seek to modify, vary or amend the terms upon which sums are deposit the Accounts without your prior written consent.	ted in
	etter and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it sha ned by English law.	all be
Yours	s faithfully	
	d on behalf of bunt Bank]	

SCHEDULE 4: FORM OF NOTICE TO AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY PARTY TO RELEVANT CONTRACT

To: [Insert name and address of relevant party]

Dated: $[\blacklozenge 20 \blacklozenge]$

Dear Sirs

RE: [DESCRIBE RELEVANT CONTRACT] DATED [♦ 20♦] BETWEEN (1) YOU AND (2) [♦] THE "CHARGOR")

- We give notice that, by a debenture dated [•] 2022 (the "**Debenture**"), we have assigned to [•] (the "**Security Agent**") as Security Agent for the Secured Parties (as referred to in the Debenture) all our present and future right, title and interest in and to [*insert details of Relevant Contract*] (together with any other agreement supplementing or amending the same, the "**Agreement**") including all rights and remedies in connection with the Agreement and all proceeds and claims arising from the Agreement.
- For the purposes of this notice and the attached acknowledgement, the term "Event of Default" has the meaning given to that term in the Debenture.
- We irrevocably authorise and instruct you from time to time:
 - (a) to disclose to the Security Agent at our expense (without any reference to or further authority from us and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for such disclosure), such information relating to the Agreement as the Security Agent may from time to time request;
 - (b) following written notice to you from the Security Agent confirming that an Event of Default has occurred, to hold all sums from time to time due and payable by you to us under the Agreement to the order of the Security Agent;
 - (c) following written notice to you from the Security Agent confirming that an Event of Default has occurred, to pay or release all or any part of the sums from time to time due and payable by you to us under the Agreement only in accordance with the written instructions given to you by the Security Agent from time to time;
 - (d) to comply with any written notice or instructions in any way relating to, or purporting to relate to, the Debenture or the Agreement or the debts represented thereby which you receive at any time from the Security Agent without any reference to or further authority from us and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for or validity of such notice or instruction; and
 - (e) to send copies of all notices and other information given or received under the Agreement to the Security Agent.
- 4 You may continue to deal with us in relation to the Agreement until you receive written notice from the Security Agent that an Event of Default has occurred. Thereafter we

will cease to have any right to deal with you in relation to the Agreement and therefore from that time you should deal only with the Security Agent.

- Following the occurrence of an Event of Default we are not permitted to receive from you, otherwise than through the Security Agent, any amount in respect of or on account of the sums payable to us from time to time under the Agreement
- This notice may only be revoked or amended with the prior written consent of the Security Agent.
- Please confirm by completing the enclosed copy of this notice and returning it to the Security Agent (with a copy to us) that you agree to the above and that:
 - (a) you accept the instructions and authorisations contained in this notice and you undertake to comply with this notice;
 - (b) you have not, at the date this notice is returned to the Security Agent, received notice of the assignment or charge, the grant of any security or the existence of any other interest of any third party in or to the Agreement or any proceeds of it and you will notify the Security Agent promptly if you should do so in future; and
 - (c) following written notice to you from the Security Agent confirming that an Event of Default has occurred you will not permit any sums to be paid to us or any other person (other than the Security Agent) under or pursuant to the Agreement without the prior written consent of the Security Agent.
- 8 This notice, and any acknowledgement in connection with it, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with any of them, shall be governed by English law.

Yours faithfully	
for and on behalf of	
[NAME OF CHARGOR]	

	[On	copy
--	-----	------

To: [•]
as Security Agent
[ADDRESS]

Copy to: [NAME OF CHARGOR]

We acknowledge receipt of the above notice and consent and agree to its terms. We confirm and agree to the matters set out in paragraph 7 of the above notice.

for and on	behalf o	of		
[♦]			
Dated: [♦		1		

[Insert name and address of insurer]

1

To:

Dated: [♦

SCHEDULE 5: FORM OF NOTICE TO AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY INSURERS

Dear S	Sirs				
[•] (THE "CHARGOR")			
1	have a (as refeto the supple	we notice that, by a debenture dated [\(\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \			
2	For the purposes of this notice and the attached acknowledgement, the term "Event of Default" has the meaning given to that term in the Debenture.				
3	We irre	evocably authorise and instruct you from time to time:			
	(a)	to disclose to the Security Agent at our expense (without any reference to or further authority from us and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for such disclosure) such information relating to the Policies as the Security Agent may from time to time request;			
	(b)	following written notice to you from the Security Agent confirming that an Event of Default has occurred to hold all sums from time to time due and payable by you to us under the Policies to the order of the Security Agent;			
	(c)	following written notice to you from the Security Agent confirming that an Event of Default has occurred to pay or release all or any part of the sums from time to time due and payable by you to us under the Policies only in accordance with the written instructions given to you by the Security Agent from time to time;			

(e) to send copies of all notices and other information given or received under the Policies to the Security Agent.

to comply with any written notice or instructions in any way relating to (or purporting to relate to) the Debenture, the sums payable to us from time to time under the Policies or the debts represented by them which you may receive from the Security Agent (without any reference to or further authority from us and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for or validity of such notice

We irrevocably instruct you, with effect from the date of this notice, to note on the relevant Policies the Security Agents interest as loss payee and as first priority assignee of the Policies and the rights, remedies, proceeds and claims referred to as above.

(d)

or instruction); and

- You may continue to deal with us in relation to the Policies until you receive written notice from the Security Agent that an Event of Default has occurred. Thereafter we will cease to have any right to deal with you in relation to the Polices and therefore from that time you should deal only with the Security Agent.
- Following the occurrence of an Event of Default we are not permitted to receive from you, otherwise than through the Security Agent, any amount in respect of or on account of the sums payable to us from time to time under the Policies or to agree any amendment or supplement to, or waive any obligation under, the Policies without the prior written consent of the Security Agent.
- 7 This notice may only be revoked or amended with the prior written consent of the Security Agent.
- Please confirm by completing the enclosed copy of this notice and returning it to the Security Agent (with a copy to us) that you agree to the above and that:
 - (a) you accept the instructions and authorisations contained in this notice and you undertake to comply with this notice;
 - (b) you have not, at the date this notice is returned to the Security Agent, received notice of the assignment or charge, the grant of any security or the existence of any other interest of any third party in or to the Policies or any proceeds of them or any breach of the terms of any Policy and you will notify the Security Agent promptly if you should do so in future; and
 - (c) following written notice to you from the Security Agent confirming that an Event of Default has occurred, you will not permit any sums to be paid to us or any other person under or pursuant to the Policies without the prior written consent of the Security Agent.
- 9 This notice, and any acknowledgement in connection with it, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with any of them, shall be governed by English law.

Yours faithfully	
for and on behalf of	
[Name of Chargor]	

SCHEDULE: THE POLICIES

	7
1 (In	copy
On	COPy

To: [•]
as Security Agent
[ADDRESS]

Copy to: [NAME OF CHARGOR]

Dear Sirs

We acknowledge receipt of the above notice and consent and agree to its terms. We confirm and agree to the matters set out in paragraph 8 in the above notice. We have noted the Security Agent's interest as first loss payee and first priority assignee on the Policies.

for and on	behalf of			
[♦]			
Dated: [♦]		

SCHEDULE 6: FORM OF ACCESSION DEED

THIS ACCESSION DEED is made on $20[\blacklozenge]$

BETWEEN

- (1) [[♦] LIMITED a company incorporated in [♦] with registered number [♦] (the "Acceding Company")][EACH COMPANY LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 (each an "Acceding Company")];
- (2) [♦] (the "UK Borrower"); and
- (3) [♦] (as Security Agent for the Secured Parties (as defined below)) (the "Security Agent").

BACKGROUND

This Accession Deed is supplemental to a debenture dated [♠] 2022 and made between (1) the Chargors named therein and (2) the Security Agent (the "**Debenture**").

IT IS AGREED:

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

(a) **Definitions**

Terms defined in, or construed for the purposes of, the Debenture have the same meanings when used in this Accession Deed including the recital to this Accession Deed (unless otherwise defined in this Accession Deed).

(b) Construction

Clause 1.2 (*Interpretation*) of the Debenture applies with any necessary changes to this Accession Deed as if it were set out in full in this Accession Deed.

2 ACCESSION OF THE ACCEDING COMPAN[Y/IES]

(a) Accession

[The/Each] Acceding Company:

- (i) unconditionally and irrevocably undertakes to and agrees with the Security Agent to observe and be bound by the Debenture; and
- (ii) creates and grants at the date of this Deed the charges, mortgages, assignments and other security which are stated to be created or granted by the Debenture,

as if it had been an original party to the Debenture as one of the Chargors.

(b) Covenant to pay

Without prejudice to the generality of clause 2(a) (*Accession*), [the/each] Acceding Company (jointly and severally with the other Chargors [and each other Acceding Company]), covenants in the terms set out in clause 2 (*Covenant to pay*) of the Debenture.

(c) Charge and assignment

Without prejudice to the generality of clause 2(a) (*Accession*), [the/each] Acceding Company with full title guarantee, charges and assigns (and agrees to charge and assign) to the Security Agent for the payment and discharge of the Secured Obligations, all its right, title and interest in and to the property, assets and undertaking owned by it or in which it has an interest, on the terms set out in clauses 3 (*Grant of security*), 4 (*Fixed security*) and 5 (*Floating charge*) of the Debenture including (without limiting the generality of the foregoing):

- (i) (subject to clause 6.1 of the Debenture) by way of first legal mortgage all the freehold and leasehold Real Property vested in or charged to the Acceding Company (including, without limitation, the property specified against its name in part 1 of schedule 2 (Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies]) (if any));
- (ii) by way of first fixed charge:
 - (A) all the Charged Securities (including, without limitation, those specified against its name in part 2 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies*]) (if any)); together with
 - (B) all Related Rights from time to time accruing to them;
- (iii) by way of first fixed charge each of its Collection Accounts and its other accounts with any bank or financial institution at any time (including, without limitation, those specified against its name in part 3 of schedule 2 (Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies])) and all monies at any time standing to the credit of such accounts;
- (iv) by way of first fixed charge all Intellectual Property (including, without limitation, the Intellectual Property specified against its name in part 4 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies*]) (if any));
- (v) by way of absolute assignment the Relevant Contracts (including, without limitation, those specified against its name in part 5 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies*]) (if any)), all rights and remedies in connection with the Relevant Contracts and all proceeds and claims arising from them; and

(vi) by way of absolute assignment the Insurances (including, without limitation, those specified against its name in part 6 of schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies*]) (if any)), all claims under the Insurances and all proceeds of the Insurances.

(d) Representations

[The/Each] Acceding Company makes the representations and warranties set out in this paragraph 2(d) to the Security Agent and to each other Secured Party as at the date of this Accession Deed:

- (i) [each/the] Acceding Company is the sole legal and beneficial owner of all of the Security Assets identified against its name in schedule 2 (Details of Security Assets);
- (ii) the Charged Securities listed in [part 2 of] schedule 2 to the Accession Deed (*Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies]*) constitute the entire share capital owned by [each/the] Acceding Company in the relevant company [and constitute the entire share capital of each such company]; and
- (iii) [part 1 of] schedule 2 (*Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies]*) identifies all freehold and leasehold Real Property (except Real Property that is excluded from the Security created by this Accession Deed pursuant to clause 6.1 of the Debenture) which is beneficially owned by [each/the] Acceding Company at the date of this Deed.

(e) Consent

Pursuant to clause 24.3 (*Accession Deed*) of the Debenture, the UK Borrower (as agent for itself and the existing Chargors):

- (i) consents to the accession of [the/each] Acceding Company to the Debenture on the terms of this Accession Deed; and
- (ii) agrees that the Debenture shall, after the date of this Accession Deed, be read and construed as if [the/each] Acceding Company had been named in the Debenture as a Chargor.

3 CONSTRUCTION OF DEBENTURE

This Accession Deed shall be read as one with the Debenture so that all references in the Debenture to "this Deed" and similar expressions shall include references to this Accession Deed.

4 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

Save as expressly provided to the contrary in the Debenture, a person who is not a party to this Accession Deed has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce or enjoy the benefit of any term of this Accession Deed.

5 NOTICE DETAILS

Notice details for [the/each] Acceding Company are those identified with its name below.

6 COUNTERPARTS

This Accession Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, and this has the same effect as if the signatures (and seals, if any) on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Accession Deed.

7 GOVERNING LAW

This Accession Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by English law.

IN WITNESS of which this Accession Deed has been duly executed by [the/each] Acceding Company and the UK Borrower as a deed and duly executed by the Security Agent and has been delivered on the first date specified on page 1 of this Accession Deed [by [the/each] Acceding Company and the UK Borrower].

SCHEDULE 1 TO THE ACCESSION DEED

The Acceding Companies

Company name		Registered number		Registered office		
[◆]	[•]	[•]	
[♦]	[•]	[•	J	
[♦]	[•]	[•]	
[♦]	[•]	[♦]	

SCHEDULE 2 TO THE ACCESSION DEED

Details of Security Assets owned by the [Acceding Company/Acceding Companies]

[Part 1 - Real Property]

		Registere	d land			
[Acceding Company]	Address	A	dministra	tive Area	Title nu	ımber
[♦] [•	>] [�]	[♦]
		Unregister	ed land			
[Acceding Company]	Address	Do	cument d	escribing the l	Real Proper	ty
		Date		Document	Parties	
[♦] [•	•] [�	20♠]	[♦	[•]

[Part 2 – Charged Securities]

[Acced Compa			of company in shares are held	Class shares		Numb shares		Issued capita	
[♦		[•]	[♦]	[♦]	[♦]
[•]	[•]	[•]	[•]	[•]
[•]	[•]	[•]	[•]	[♦]

[Part 3 - Charged Accounts]

				Collecti	on Acc	counts	
Account Account Account Account bank branch address Holder Number Bank sort code							
[♦]	[◆]	[�]	[◆]
[•]	[♦]	[•]	[•]
[♦]	[♦]	[•]	[♦]

[Part 4 - Intellectual Property]

Part 4A – Trade marks									
	etor/ADP nber	TM n	umber		sdiction/ ent status	Classes		Mai	k text
[•]	[♦]	[♦]	[•]	[•]
[•]	[•]	[♦]	[•]	[•]
[♦]	[•]	[•]	[•]	[♦]

				Part 4B –	Patents				
Proprietor/ADP number Patent number Description									
[•]	[•		[•		[•]	[♦]
[•]	[♦]	[♦]	[•]	[♦]
[•]	[•]	[♦]	[•]	[♦]

[Part 5: Relevant Contracts]

		Date of R Contract	la tilaji datiangana ana 1954 ilaa ara 1991 ilayini da 1954 ilayi 497 ilayi ana 1964 aa ilaa ahaa ahaa ahaa ah		Parties		Details of Relevant Contract	
[♦]	[♦]	[•]	[♦]	
[•]	[♦]	[•]	[•]	
[•]	[♦]	[♦]	[♦]	

[Part 6: Insurances]

[Acceding	Company]	Insurer		Policy nu	ımber
[•]	[•]	[•]
[•]	[•]	[•]

EXECUTION PAGES OF THE ACCESSION DEED

[Insert Signature Blocks as required]

EXECUTION PAGES

THE ORIGINAL CHARGORS

EXECUTED AS A I first date specified on	DEED , but not delivered until the page 1, by)
	BIDCO LIMITED acting by:	Ć
Director		
Name of Director	Timothy Denari	
I		
Director		
Name of Director	Joshua Spoerri	

Address: 52-54 Gracechurch Street, London, England, EC3V 0EH
Email address: EEMT@centerbridge.com and legalnotices@centerbridge.com

Attention: The Board of Directors

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:

• OpCapita LLP, 2 Park St, London W1K 2HX, United Kingdom

Attention: Joshua Spoerri

Email: Joshua.Spoerri@opcapita.com

• Centerbridge Partners, 2nd Floor, 10 New Burlington St, London W1S 3BE

Attention: Timothy Denari

Email: tdenari@centerbridge.com

EXECUTED AS A 1	DEED , but not delivered until the)
first date specified or	page 1, by)
READYTRADE LI	MITED acting by:)
Director		,
- Name of Director	Aly Janmohamed	
Director		
Name of Director	Shehzad Janmohamed	

Address: 64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH, England; and 78 Roxborough St W, Toronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada

Email address: Alv.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and

Shehzad.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com

Attention: Aly Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed

EXECUTED AS A DEE	D , but not delivered until the)
first date specified on page	e 1, by
NORTHERN HOLDING	GS COMPANY)
LIMITED acting by:	
Director	,
Name of Director	Janmohamed
Director	
Name of Director	hzad Janmohamed

Address: 64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH, England; and 78 Roxborough St W, Toronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada

Email address: Aly.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and

Shehzad. Janmohamed @ Soulfoods group.com

Attention: Aly Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed

first date specified on	DEED, but not delivered until the page 1, by S LIMITED acting by:)))
Director Name of Director	Aly Janmohamed	
Director		
Name of Director	Shehzad Janmohamed	

Address: 64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH, England; and 78 Roxborough St W, Toronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada

Email address: Aly.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and

Shehzad.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com

Attention: Aly Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed

first date specified	A DEED, but not delivered until the) don page 1, by) IMITED acting by:)
Director	promise and
Witness signature	
Witness name:	Joanna Saunders
Witness address:	
Address:	64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH, England; and 78 Roxborough St W, Toronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada
Email address:	Aly.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and Shehzad.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com
Attention:	Aly Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed
first date specified	A DEED, but not delivered until the) don page 1, by) ODS LIMITED acting by:
Director	
Name of Director	Aly Janmohamed
Director	Shehzad Janmohamed
Name of Director	
	Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH, England; and 78 , Toronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada
Email address:	Aly.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and Shehzad.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com
Attention:	Aly Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed

EXECUTED AS A DEF first date specified on pag SOUL COFFEE HOUS					
Director					
Name of Director	y Janmohamed				
Director					
Name of Director	ehzad Janmohamed				
	ey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 nto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada	2ЕН,	England;	and	78
Shehza	mohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and id.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com mohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed				
first date specified on pag	ED, but not delivered until the) ge 1, by) EE (WEST) LIMITED acting by:)				
Director					
Name of Director	y Janmohamed				
Director					
Name of Director	ehzad Janmohamed				
	ey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 nto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada	2ЕН,	England;	and	78
	nmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and				
	id.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com				

EXECUTED AS A DEED, but not delivered until the first date specified on page 1, by SOUL COFFEE HOUSE (EAST) LIMITED acting by:)
Director
Name of Director
Director Shehzad Janmohamed
Name of Director
Address: 64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH, England; and 78 Roxborough St W, Toronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada Email address: Aly.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and Shehzad.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com Attention: Aly Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed
EXECUTED AS A DEED, but not delivered until the)
first date specified on page 1, by SOUL COFFEE HOUSE (CENTRAL) LIMITED acting by: Director
first date specified on page 1, by SOUL COFFEE HOUSE (CENTRAL) LIMITED acting by:)
first date specified on page 1, by SOUL COFFEE HOUSE (CENTRAL) LIMITED acting by: Director Aly Janmohamed Director Shehzad Janmohamed
first date specified on page 1, by SOUL COFFEE HOUSE (CENTRAL) LIMITED acting by: Director Aly Janmohamed Director
first date specified on page 1, by SOUL COFFEE HOUSE (CENTRAL) LIMITED acting by: Director Aly Janmohamed Director Shehzad Janmohamed
first date specified on page 1, by SOUL COFFEE HOUSE (CENTRAL) LIMITED acting by: Director Aly Janmohamed Name of Director Shehzad Janmohamed Name of Director Address: 64 Wolsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA6 2EH, England; and 78

first date specified on	DEED, but not delivered until the page 1, by USE (LONDON) LIMITED acting by:))			
Director					
Name of Director	Aly Janmohamed				
Director					
Name of Director	Shehzad Janmohamed				
	olsey Road, Northwood, Middlesex, HA bronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada	.6 2EH,	England;	and	78
***************************************	Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com; and				
	hzad.Janmohamed@Soulfoodsgroup.com Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed				
first date specified on)			
	USE (SOUTH) LIMITED acting by:)			
Director Name of Director	Aly Janmohamed				
Director					
Name of Director	Shehzad Janmohamed				
Address: 64 Wo	olsev Road. Northwood. Middlesex. HA	.6 2EH	England:	and	78

Roxborough St W, Toronto, Ontario M5R 1T8, Canada

Aly Janmohamed and Shehzad Janmohamed Attention:

EXECUTED AS A first date specified or SUPERNOVA CAN	n page 1, by)
Director		-
Name of Director	Timothy Denari	_
D'		
Director Name of Director	Joshua Spoerri	_

Address: 52-54 Gracechurch Street, London, England, EC3V 0EH

Email address: <u>EEMT@centerbridge.com</u> and <u>legalnotices@centerbridge.com</u>

Attention: The Board of Directors

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:

• OpCapita LLP, 2 Park St, London W1K 2HX, United Kingdom

Attention: Joshua Spoerri

Email: Joshua.Spoerri@opcapita.com

• Centerbridge Partners, 2nd Floor, 10 New Burlington St, London W1S 3BE

Attention: Timothy Denari

Email: tdenari@centerbridge.com

THE SECURITY AGENT

Signed by	Issam Majeed	_ for)	
and on behalf	of BANK OF MONTREA	. L :)	Signature

Address: Bank of Montreal

18th Floor

First Canadian Place 100 King Street West Toronto, Ontario

M5X 1A1

Email address: Aditya.Sapru@bmo.com

Attention: Aditya Sapru